RECEIVED

Nov 24 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000065
Civil Action No. 2023-CP-40-04072

Michael L. Perry and Lonnie Long,..... Respondents,

v.

American International Industries et al.

Of whom Johnson & Johnson; LLT Management, LLC
f/k/a LTL Management, LLC; Kenvue, Inc.; and Johnson
& Johnson Holdco (NA), Inc. are the Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

C. Mitchell Brown
A. Mattison Bogan
Blake T. Williams
Yasmeen Ebbini
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 799-2000

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the J&J Defendants are entitled to a new trial where the court allowed Plaintiffs to submit undisclosed evidence about tissue digestion after openings, altering the course of trial; prevented the J&J Defendants from obtaining their own tissue digestion expert opinions; and prevented the J&J Defendants from rebutting the Plaintiffs' tissue digestion evidence through fact or expert testimony?
2. Whether the J&J Defendants are entitled to a new trial where the court granted a spoliation order pre-trial that prejudiced the J&J Defendants' defense that their talc products do not contain asbestos?
3. Whether the J&J Defendants are entitled to a new trial where the court limited the J&J Defendants' causation defense by permitting improper expert testimony for Plaintiffs, restricting the evidence offered by the J&J Defendants, declining charges requested by the J&J Defendants, and where Plaintiffs' counsel argued improper law respecting causation to the jury and made other improper arguments?
4. Whether the court erred by imposing successor liability on Holdco and Kenvue where neither defendant manufactured Johnson's Baby Powder used by Plaintiff, each is a separate entity from Johnson & Johnson, and Plaintiffs have an adequate remedy against the other J&J Defendants?

INTRODUCTION

This trial started on an uneven playing field with Plaintiffs ambushing the J&J Defendants with surprise expert testing. And by the end of trial that playing field was tilted entirely in Plaintiffs' direction.

Plaintiffs claim that the J&J Defendants' talc products are inadvertently contaminated with ultra trace amounts of asbestos and contributed to Plaintiff Michael Perry's development of mesothelioma. Sometimes, but not always, these talc cases involve "tissue digestions." These are analyses of tissue samples from the plaintiff that might or might not show the presence of asbestos. So when they are available, they can be critical pieces of evidence. Plaintiffs' lead testing expert, Dr. William Longo, testified at his deposition three weeks before trial that he would not be able to complete any tissue digestion analysis by the time of trial.

So the J&J Defendants understandably prepared their trial strategy with the expectation that this case would not have a tissue digestion. The J&J Defendants arrived at court to give opening statements and—surprise!—Plaintiffs informed the court that Dr. Longo had in fact completed the tissue digestion analysis he had just testified he couldn't do. What were the results of that analysis? The J&J Defendants weren't told. They were forced to begin opening with no understanding whatsoever about this critical expert opinion. In fact, defense counsel had to tell the jury in opening: "I have no idea what this man [Dr. Longo] is going to tell you." That is how the trial began on an uneven playing field.

The court then prohibited defendants from offering evidence that Mr. Perry was exposed to asbestos from his work at a hotel where the asbestos would have been the very types of Dr. Longo claimed to find in Mr. Perry's tissue samples. The court also prohibited Johnson & Johnson's Chief Medical Officer from testifying that the J&J Defendants had never found one of the types of asbestos found in Mr. Perry's tissue in any of their source mines. So the jury was left with only one possible conclusion: the asbestos in Mr. Perry's tissue came from talc.

The J&J Defendants had two main defenses: that its products did not contain asbestos, and that the extremely low levels of asbestos Plaintiffs claim are present are insufficient to cause mesothelioma. The court's rulings initially chipped away at the first defense until it became impossible to maintain. Despite the fact that the J&J Defendants maintained hundreds of thousands of pages of historic documents and dozens upon dozens of actual bottles of talc, the court found that the J&J Defendants improperly spoliated evidence. Other courts around the country have disagreed. The court stated that if the J&J Defendants discussed internal J&J testing or testing commissioned by J&J, that would open the door to an adverse inference that evidence would have

shown asbestos present in the talc. When the J&J Defendants began trying their case under those parameters, the contours of what would trigger the adverse inference changed.

Limited in their ability to explain to the jury that their products did not contain asbestos, the J&J Defendants were left with only one defense: low dose. But then court rulings limited that defense at every turn. A co-defendant in this case is American International Industries (“A-I-I”). They manufactured another brand of talc. The court entered default judgment against A-I-I based on the timing of their answer. But rather than severing A-I-I, the court instructed the jury at the outset of the case that “A-I-I’s asbestos-containing talc product was defective and unreasonably dangerous and was a substantial factor in the development of Michael Perry’s mesothelioma.” (Trial Tr. 156:10-22; R. 17680.) This completely undercut the defense that the levels of asbestos allegedly found in talc are too *low* to cause mesothelioma.

The court also permitted Plaintiffs’ specific causation expert to offer the opinion that *any* exposure to asbestos contributes to a plaintiff’s cumulative exposure and therefore is causative. That invalid opinion has been rejected by courts across the country. But at the same time, the court *prohibited* the J&J Defendants from introducing FDA’s conclusion in 1986 that levels of asbestos allegedly found in talc are too low to be hazardous on the grounds that the document was a “letter between two people.” (Pretrial Hrg. Tr. 145:12-14; R. 17424.) The court *also* excluded Defendants’ experts from offering the opinion that Mr. Perry’s cumulative exposure to asbestos was too low to cause his mesothelioma and that it occurred—as many cancers do—through errors in cell division and not from any external source. Plaintiff’s own expert agrees mesotheliomas can occur that way. The court precluded that opinion based on a prior ruling it made in another case regarding what materials the experts reviewed even though the experts reviewed those very materials to account for the court’s prior criticisms.

Hearing such a one-sided view of the evidence, the jury returned a \$62 million verdict, which after remittitur and setoffs, resulted in a final judgment of \$39.4 million. This Court should reverse the judgment for the reasons set forth herein and order a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of a verdict in favor of Plaintiffs against Appellants Johnson & Johnson, Inc. and LLT Management, LLC, f/k/a LTL Management, LLC, and of the court's subsequent order imposing successor liability on Kenvue, Inc., and Johnson & Johnson Holdco (NA), Inc. One of the original defendants in the lawsuit was American International Industries ("A-I-I"), the company that manufactured a brand of talcum powder called Clubman. At the outset of the case, A-I-I went into default and the court denied its motion to set aside the entry of default. (*See* Oct. 3, 2023 Order; Nov. 2, 2023 Order; R. 1-8.) The parties proceeded with discovery and the case was set for trial on August 5, 2024. Prior to trial, all defendants other than A-I-I and the J&J Defendants settled or were dismissed.

At the pretrial hearing, the court stated that A-I-I would be included in the trial for purposes of damages only. (Pretrial Hrg. Tr. 8:17-19; R. 17287.) Before trial, Plaintiffs proposed a jury instruction, accepted by the court, that "the court has determined that Clubman's asbestos-containing talc product was defective and unreasonably dangerous and was a substantial factor in the development of Michael Perry's mesothelioma." (*See* J&J Defs. Objection, Ex. 1 – Email; R. 9630-36.) The J&J Defendants objected and proposed a different instruction, and moved in the alternative to sever, which were denied. (J&J Defs. Obj. p.2; Trial Tr. ("Tr.") 38:3-12; R. 9627, 17562.)

The court also stated, after the jury was sworn, that if the J&J Defendants attempted to present evidence of internal talc tests showing no asbestos contamination, the court would charge

the jury that due to alleged spoliation, it could assume that the J&J Defendants' talc products contained asbestos.¹ (See J&J Defs. Resp. to Pltfs.' MIL #22, Ex. B – *Hood-McBrayer* Order; Trial Tr. 40:2-41:12; R. 8917-28, 17564-65.)

Following a two-week trial, the jury returned a verdict against the J&J Defendants on Plaintiffs' claims for negligence and strict liability and for the J&J Defendants on Plaintiffs' fraudulent misrepresentation claim. The jury awarded Plaintiffs a total of \$32,656,250 in actual damages assessed against the J&J Defendants and A-I-I. The jury also found that the J&J Defendants' conduct was willful, wanton, or reckless. The case proceeded to the punitive damages phase, and the jury returned a verdict of \$30,000,000 in punitive damages against the J&J Defendants and \$760,000 against A-I-I.

The court permitted Plaintiffs to make further filings and submit additional evidence regarding successor liability claims post-trial. The J&J Defendants and A-I-I then timely filed their post-trial motions, renewed their directed verdict motion, and opposed successor liability. The Court issued an Order on December 11, 2024: (1) denying the J&J Defendants' motions for JNOV, new trial absolute, and new trial based on the thirteenth juror doctrine; (2) granting their motion for a new trial nisi remittitur; (3) granting, in part, their motion for setoff, but denying production of settlement agreements; (4) granting, in part, their motion to stay execution on the judgment; and (5) finding Johnson & Johnson Holdco (NA), Inc. ("Holdco") and Kenvue, Inc. liable under a successor liability theory. (Dec. 11, 2024 Order on J&J Defs. Motions p. 1; R. 68.)

After the remittitur, the compensatory damages to Plaintiff Perry were reduced by \$4,000,000 to \$19,037,500; the loss of consortium award was reduced by \$3,000,000 to \$6,618,750; and the punitive damages award was reduced by \$5,000,000 to \$25,000,000. (*Id.* p.

¹ The existence of negative testing reports spanning decades was a central pillar of the J&J Defendants' anticipated defense. Evidence and testimony concerning these reports has routinely been allowed by trial courts across the country.

85; R. 152.) After accounting for setoffs of \$11,255,000, the total compensatory judgment was \$14,401,250 and the total punitive judgment remained \$25,000,000. Thus, the total judgment against the J&J Defendants was **\$39,401,250**. (*Id.*) A judgment was also entered against A-I-I.

On December 23, 2024, the J&J Defendants timely filed a motion to reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e).² The court issued its ruling denying the motion to reconsider on March 2, 2025, and entered an amended order on the J&J Defendants' post-trial motions that same day, making a change to a factual finding. (Order on Rule 59(e) Mot.; Amended Order on J&J Defs. Motions; R. 154-258.) The J&J Defendants then timely appealed these additional Orders.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Michael Perry alleged exposure to asbestos based on: (1) his and his mother's use of various cosmetic and consumer talc products which Plaintiffs allege were contaminated with trace amounts of asbestos, and (2) dozens of brake jobs utilizing asbestos-containing brake pads. Regarding talc, Mr. Perry alleged that he was exposed to asbestos through his mother's use of talc products produced by Avon, Cashmere Bouquet, Chanel, Estee Lauder, and Johnson's Baby Powder and Shower to Shower, (Tr. 462:12-24; R. 17986), and through his personal use of various talc brands, including Clubman, Drakkar Noir, Gold Bond, Ralph Lauren, Ammens, Calvin Klein, Equate, and Johnson's Baby Powder. (Tr. 1664:2-67:3; R. 19188-91.)

Mr. Perry contended that he was exposed to asbestos from changing the brakes on family vehicles when he was between 15 and 18 years old. (Tr. 1677:17-78:2; R. 19191.) He installed six

² Because the Court had not acted on this motion within 30 days of the December 11 Order, the J&J Defendants proceeded to file a notice of appeal and moved for a limited remand to allow the court to rule on the motion to reconsider, which this Court granted.

dozen brakes³ on these vehicles over a three-year period and testified the process would take several hours and release visible dust that he breathed. (Tr. 1678:15-82:7; R. 19202-06.)

I. The Court Permits Dr. Longo’s Tissue Digestion Results To Be Disclosed After Opening Statements, Then Prohibited Related Defenses.

A “tissue digestion” is an analysis of someone’s tissue, which can be relevant to exposure because it can show the presence or absence of particular types of asbestos and the levels of those asbestos in a plaintiff’s tissue. Prior to trial, the J&J Defendants contacted Plaintiffs to request assistance in obtaining Mr. Perry’s tissue from the hospital to conduct a tissue digestion. (*See* J&J Defs. Mot. to Exclude Tissue Digestion; R. 5689-24.) For over a month, there were exchanges of correspondence on how to split samples until the J&J Defendants were forced to get a court order to split the samples. Plaintiffs’ testing expert, Dr. William Longo, testified at his deposition before trial that he would not be able to complete any tissue digestion analysis in time for trial. So the J&J Defendants proceeded to trial expecting that no tissue digestion would be part of the case.

Yet Plaintiffs launched a surprise on the eve of trial. Just before opening statements began, Plaintiffs disclosed that— contrary to his deposition testimony—Dr. Longo had in fact completed the tissue digestion he previously said under oath he could not complete in time for trial. The J&J Defendants requested either that the tissue findings be excluded or that trial be continued for their own expert to conduct a tissue analysis, which would take three weeks. (*See* Tr. 72:12-20, 147:3-22; R. 17596, 17621.) The court denied both requests. (Tr. 147:8-48:18; R. 17671-72.)

The J&J Defendants requested either that the tissue findings be excluded or that trial be continued for their own expert to conduct a tissue analysis, which would take three weeks. (Tr. 72:12-20, 147:3-22; R. 17596, 17671.) The court denied both requests. The court stated that, even

³ He recalled using the following asbestos containing brake parts: Bendix brake drum linings, NAPA drum brake linings, Rayloc drum brake linings, and NAPA asbestos auto gasket kit preformed gaskets. (Tr. 481:2-11; R. 18005.)

though the J&J Defendants knew nothing about Dr. Longo's findings, that they would not come as a surprise to the defense. (Tr. 147:14-22; R. 17671.)

Critically, what Plaintiffs "disclosed" prior to trial was simply the *fact* that Dr. Longo had done a tissue digestion. They did not disclose what Dr. Longo's actual *findings* were. Over the J&J Defendants' objection, the court permitted the case to proceed to opening statements with the J&J Defendants completely in the dark about a critical piece of evidence.

In fact, defense counsel was forced to tell the jury in openings: "And I'm standing here as the counsel for Johnson & Johnson defendants, and I have no idea what this man [Dr. Longo] is going to tell you. We'll have an opportunity to cross-examine him. And who knows what he'll say about this tissue in Mr. Perry's body. We'll have to find out." (Tr. 227:18-25; R. 17750.)

Those findings *did*, in fact, contain a major surprise. Dr. Longo identified winchite asbestos in Mr. Perry's lungs, in addition to tremolite. (Tr. 877:5-15, 966:14; R. 18401, 18490.) However, the court prohibited the J&J Defendants from introducing evidence that Mr. Perry had been exposed repeatedly to asbestos throughout his hotel employment in an old library storage building and prohibited questions of experts that such most probably contained winchite. (*See* J&J Defs.' Post-trial Motions, Ex E. Longo Dep. at 93:16-94:2; R. 13409-10.) The court then also prohibited Johnson & Johnson's Chief Medical Officer from testifying about his personal knowledge that the winchite purportedly found in Mr. Perry's lung tissue could not have originated from the J&J Defendants' products. (Tr. at 1293:15-1294:2; R. 18817-18.) The Court also prohibited the J&J Defendants from fulsome cross-examination of Dr. Longo about the reliability of his rushed testing given his prior testimony that such testing could not be completed before trial. (Tr. 964:19-66:12; R. 18488-90.)

After the J&J Defendants were forced to address the surprise tissue digestion findings both after opening statement and at a time where Defendants could not conduct their own testing—and with Defendants prevented from explaining how the winchite finding actually helped the defense—Plaintiffs’ lawyer took advantage in closing. He told the jury: “you can buy almost anything,” “pay people to eat bugs on TV or marry someone they’ve never met,” and “pay experts to come into court and say smoking doesn’t cause lung cancer, arsenic in the water doesn’t cause leukemia” but “[o]nce we realized what was in Michael Perry’s lungs, they couldn’t find an expert on earth to come into this court and tell you they didn’t do it.” (Tr. 1884:22-1885:7; R. 19408-09.) The Court permitted Plaintiffs to argue that the jury could take negative inferences from the fact that J&J Defendants chose not to call their retained expert but struck the portion of the statements that the J&J Defendants “couldn’t find” an expert. (Tr. 1887:14-21; R. 19411.)

II. The Court Issues A Shifting Spoilation Order Prejudicing The J&J Defendants’ Defense that Asbestos Is Not Present In Their Talc Products.

The J&J Defendants have produced over 500,000 historic documents in the talc litigation going back decades. Indeed, Plaintiffs’ center their case on the J&J Defendants’ own historic documents which they maintained for decades. The J&J Defendants also kept dozens upon dozens of actual bottles of its talc products spanning multiple decades that anyone is able to test. In fact, Plaintiff’s testing expert, Dr. William Longo’s, opinion is based predominantly on his testing of those very bottles, which the J&J Defendants provided in discovery.

Nevertheless, in a prior case known as *Hood-McBrayer*, the court found that the J&J Defendants spoliated evidence. Specifically, any reliance on the results of testing the J&J Defendants either conducted themselves or commissioned where the test results showed the absence of asbestos where underlying backup data was not present would trigger an instruction

that the missing data showed asbestos fibers were in fact present (contrary to what the analyst reported as the results):

That when Johnson & Johnson introduces a test result, for tests performed by Johnson & Johnson or commissioned by Johnson & Johnson, that is negative for asbestos, reports “no quantifiable asbestos,” or contains similar language, if the evidence shows Johnson & Johnson destroyed or unreasonably failed to preserve underlying data related to the test, the jury may presume that the missing data showed asbestos fibers were present.

(See J&J Defs. Resp. to Pltfs.’ MIL #22, Ex. B – *Hood-McBrayer* Order; Trial Tr. 40:2-41:12; R. 8917-28, 17564-65.) The court then adopted that ruling here. (Pretrial Hrg. Tr. 149:22-156:10; R. 17428-35.)

This order drastically changed the type of evidence the J&J Defendants could present at trial, and the J&J Defendants structured their entire strategy around the contours of the order. Defense counsel said as much publicly, telling the court and the plaintiffs on the first day of trial: “I’m telling you right now that we do not intend to offer any evidence that would trigger this for the jury. And that, again, is a decision we’ve made only because of Your Honor’s adverse ruling in this case that we believe prejudices us.” (Tr. 39:21-40:1; R. 17563-64.)

But the contours of this order mutated during trial. Mid-trial, the court said that if the J&J Defendants merely “projected the notion of no asbestos,” that would trigger the adverse inference instruction as well—even if the J&J Defendants did not “introduce[] a test result” as originally required by the order (Tr. 1025:22-1026:4; R. 18549-50.)

Because the J&J Defendants did not present the critical evidence for their defense of the testing showing the absence of asbestos in their products in order to avoid triggering the adverse inference instruction, the court ultimately did not give that instruction.

III. The Court Limits Defendants' Remaining Low Dose Causation Defense.

A. Low dose becomes the only remaining defense.

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