RECEIVED

Nov 21 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000065
Civil Action No. 2023-CP-40-04072

Michael L. Perry and Lonnie Long Respondents,

v.

**American Industrial Industries, Atlas Turner Inc., Avon Products, Inc.,
Barretts Minerals, Inc., BlockDrug Company, Inc., Brenntag North America,
Inc., Brenntag Specialties, LLC, Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, Buy-Low
General Merchandise, Inc., C&S Wholesale Grocers, LLC, Calvin Klein, Inc.,
Chanel, Inc., Charles B. Chrystal Company, Inc., Chattem, Inc., Colgate-

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court did not permit trial-by-ambush and did not abuse its discretion in admitting the tissue digestion findings.

J&J’s allegations of trial by ambush are wholly disputed by the record. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting tissue digestion evidence, excluding testimony regarding alleged exposure to asbestos from Mr. Perry’s work in hotels, or prohibiting improper expert testimony from Dr. Kuffner. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the trial court’s rulings on these issues.

A. The tissue digestion results were not a surprise to J&J.

The parties jointly requested the division of Mr. Perry’s lung tissue a month before the beginning of trial. Through no fault of the parties, the tissue division did not occur until the day before the pre-trial hearing. At the pre-trial hearing, while moving to have the tissue digestion results excluded, J&J simultaneously informed the court that it had retained an expert to analyze Mr. Perry’s lung tissue. The court agreed to revisit the issue if *both* experts were unable to perform the digestion. At this time, J&J was aware that Dr. Longo was performing the digestion. Once complete, Dr. Longo issued a report on his findings and that report was forwarded to J&J. Dr. Longo was also made available for deposition on August 6, 2024.

J&J claimed it was “surprised” by the tissue digestion results because they were completed the same day as opening statements but did not seek a continuance. J&J, in fact, knew the digestion was happening, knew which expert was performing the digestion, received the results of the

digestion, and was given an opportunity to depose Dr. Longo regarding those results prior to his testimony at trial. An opportunity which J&J took. J&J even opened on the issue of the tissue digestion. (R. at 17751:1-17752:6).³ There was no surprise about the admission of evidence J&J expected and previewed for the jury.

In addition to J&J not being surprised by the tissue digestion, J&J was also not unfairly prejudiced by the admission and/or presentation of the evidence. “The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter within the trial court’s sound discretion, and an appellate court may only disturb a ruling admitting or excluding evidence upon a showing of a ‘manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.’” *State v. Commander*, 396 S.C. 254, 262–63, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417 (2011) (quoting *State v. Douglas*, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847–48 (2006)). Determining whether prejudice exists “depends on the circumstances” and “the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.” *State v. Taylor*, 333 S.C. 159, 172, 508 S.E.2d 870, 876 (1998) (quoting *State v. Mitchell*, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985)). Prejudice in this context means “there is a reasonable probability the jury’s verdict was influenced by the wrongly admitted or excluded evidence.” *Vaught v. A.O. Hardee & Sons, Inc.*, 366 S.C. 475, 480, 623 S.E.2d 373, 375 (2005).

Missing from J&J’s analysis is the prejudice they suffered from the admission of the tissue digestion results and how this evidence, relevant to the issues before the jury, wrongly influenced the jury’s verdict. The tissue digestion results only demonstrated that Mr. Perry had asbestos and talc in his lung tissue. The source of those materials remained subject to dispute, and J&J remained free to rebut the tissue digestion results through testimony and evidence from its experts.

³ Out of an abundance of caution, Plaintiffs did not mention tissue digestion until after Dr. Longo’s deposition.

Contrary to their contention, J&J was not *forced* to tell the jury during opening statements that they “had no idea” what Dr. Longo would testify regarding the results of the tissue digestion. Opening statements serve to inform the jury of the *general* nature of the action and defenses involved in a case so the jury will be better prepared to understand the evidence presented. *State v. Brown*, 277 S.C. 203, 204, 284 S.E.2d 777, 778 (1981). It is irrelevant that J&J allegedly could not discuss the specifics of the tissue digestion, especially when its defense to Plaintiffs’ claims was that JBP did not contain asbestos. Even without mention of the tissue digestion results, J&J’s opening statement covered the general nature of the case. There was no prejudice to J&J.

B. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in prohibiting speculative testimony about Michael Perry’s exposures to asbestos.

In an effort to deflect from the alleged exposures to JBP, J&J sought to point to alternative exposures. J&J was permitted to do so when properly disclosed and evidenced. For instance, J&J presented evidence suggesting that the tremolite in Mr. Perry’s lungs came from his brake work. (R. at 18003:15-18011:7; R. at 18468:4-18472:24, 18473:23-18488:9). However, undisclosed and/or speculative theories of potential exposures were properly disallowed.

Specifically, the trial court properly excluded speculative testimony regarding Mr. Perry’s alleged exposure to asbestos while working in the hotel industry. (R. at 17377:2-17381:3). In deposition testimony, Mr. Perry stated he worked at an Embassy Suites in approximately 2000 (R. at 20567:1-17). Based on a newspaper article, Mr. Perry thought the library next to the Embassy Suites had asbestos in it. (R. at 20678). He was never in the library while work was being done. (R. at 20677). The belief that asbestos was *next door* to the building he worked was the only concern about asbestos related to his work in the hotel industry. Unsurprisingly, there was no expert designated in this case who found any exposure—much less substantial exposure—to asbestos stemming from Mr. Perry’s work in and around hotels.

Although J&J proffered testimony regarding Mr. Perry's work in hotels, it did not provide the missing causal link that would have made this testimony relevant. The proffer did not, as required by *Henderson v. Allied Signal, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 179, 185, 644 S.E.2d 724, 727 (2007), provide evidence of "exposure to a specific product on a regular basis over any extended period of time in proximity to where the plaintiff actually worked." Additionally, although J&J pointed to a reference in Dr. Haber's report regarding alleged exposure to asbestos while working at hotels, the reference is to a summary of a summary from a doctor not called as a witness at trial, (R. at 17922:1-17923:18; R. at 09674-09676), and was not otherwise substantiated. Moreover, J&J failed to identify a single expert witness that opined or would opine that 1) Mr. Perry was exposed to the rumored asbestos in the library next to the hotel where he worked, and 2) that exposure was a substantial factor in the development of Mr. Perry's mesothelioma. Consequently, the evidence/testimony remained speculative and was properly excluded.

Contrary to J&J's argument, it was J&J's burden to demonstrate that the alleged asbestos exposure from Mr. Perry's work at hotels caused and/or contributed to his mesothelioma. This was essentially an empty-chair defense. As recently noted in *Edwards v. Scapa Waycross, Inc.*, "(i)n seeking to establish an empty-chair defense, a defendant must assign fault for the plaintiff's injury to another party by providing evidence to the fact-finder that is sufficient for it to determine whether the party's 'actions were the cause of the plaintiff's injuries.'" 437 S.C. 396, 427, 878 S.E.2d 696, 713 (Ct. App. 2022) (quoting *Machin v. Carus Corp.*, 419 S.C. 527, 542-43, 799 S.E.2d 468, 476 (2017)). J&J provided no evidence Mr. Perry was exposed to asbestos during his work in hotels much less that the exposure caused his mesothelioma. Moreover, it is entirely within the trial court's discretion to exclude such attenuated testimony under Rule 403 to exclude discussion of potential and remote possibilities as undue consumption of time.

Finally, Plaintiffs' counsel's use of a medical record from Mr. Perry's treating thoracic oncologist with a mention of Mr. Perry's work in hotels redacted did not "open the door" for J&J to question any witness regarding this alleged exposure to asbestos while Mr. Perry worked in the hotel industry. Plaintiffs' counsel's direct examination of Dr. Haber only addressed Mr. Perry's exposure to talc. Counsel's redaction of documents so as not to violate previous in limine rulings was not improper and did not open the door to previously excluded testimony. Notably, when Mr. Perry's thoracic oncologist testified, J&J made no effort to ask the trial court to revisit its ruling regarding alleged hotel exposure. (R. at 18243:6-18251:24). Exclusion of this testimony was proper, and J&J is not entitled to a new trial.

C. The circuit court properly prevented Dr. Kuffner from further testifying regarding winchite.

Dr. Kuffner was not designated as an expert witness in this case. Additionally, during his testimony, he clearly testified that he was not a microscopist or geologist. (R. at 18711:2-12; 18769:11-12). Even without relevant expertise, however, he was permitted to testify that any asbestos minerals found in Mr. Perry's lungs did not and could not have come from JBP. (R. at 18731:18-18732:23). He further testified that in his review of company documents, he had never seen a finding of winchite in JBP. (R. at 18816:9-18817:4). Moreover, he gave opinions about geology despite his lack of expertise in that field, testifying both that he was familiar with where winchite comes from and that it did not come from any of the mines used as a talc source for JBP. (R. at 18817:5-13). When J&J sought to have Dr. Kuffner testify further about the sources of winchite, the trial court stopped the line of questioning. (R. at 18817: 5-18818:20).

The trial court's ruling was consistent with the court's pretrial order that Dr. Kuffner, a fact witness, could not be the conduit for expert opinions. (R. at 17384:10-17388:4). The trial court

also noted that Dr. Kuffner was “not there to offer opinions. He is there to testify about the records of Johnson & Johnson.” (R. at 17388:14-17).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in prohibiting Dr. Kuffner—a fact witness and non-geologist—from testifying about the sources of winchite, especially when J&J designated an expert geologist. As a fact witness, Dr. Kuffner’s testimony was bound by South Carolina Rules of Evidence 701, which limits lay opinion testimony to topics about which the witness has personal knowledge and topics that do not require special knowledge, skill, experience, or training. Opinions regarding the presence or absence of winchite in J&J’s mine sources requires special knowledge in the field of geology and would be governed by South Carolina Rules of Evidence 702 and 703. Given Dr. Kuffner’s testimony that he was not a geologist and had no special training in that area, and that J&J did not disclose Dr. Kuffner as an expert witness on any subject, it was not error for the trial court to prohibit Dr. Kuffner from offering expert opinion testimony on the subject.

Further, attempting to couch the question as “whether or not he had seen reference to winchite in Johnson & Johnson records” (R. at 18817:5-18818:20) does not save Dr. Kuffner’s attempt to testify outside the scope of his designation as a corporate representative. Dr. Kuffner was, in fact, allowed to give that testimony. Further, there is nothing improper about the exclusion of testimony from a fact witness which clearly required specialized skill, knowledge, training, and experience.

The exclusion of Dr. Kuffner’s speculative testimony about winchite did not prevent J&J from rebutting evidence or testimony presented by Plaintiffs on that point. As of August 9, 2024—the day that Dr. Kuffner testified—J&J had not begun to put on its case in chief and was still expected to present testimony from its properly designated expert witnesses. (R. at 20410-20428;

R. at 18878:5-18880:2). J&J's choice not to do so was a matter of trial strategy. Prohibiting this testimony through an improper conduit was not an abuse of discretion.

D. Plaintiffs' counsel's closing argument was proper.

“A trial court is allowed broad discretion in dealing with the range and propriety of closing argument.” *O'Leary-Payne v. R.R. Hilton Head, II, Inc.*, 371 S.C. 340, 352, 638 S.E.2d 96, 102 (Ct. App. 2006). Here, the trial court sustained an objection to Plaintiffs' counsel's argument that J&J could not *find* an expert (and gave a curative instruction) while recognizing counsel could comment on J&J's choice not to *call* any experts at trial. (R. at 19409:4-15, 19410:15-21). J&J, in fact, agreed that counsel could “comment on the fact we didn't bring experts.” (R. at 19410:10-13).

J&J now changes its argument on appeal, suggesting it was improper to comment on the failure to call an expert. This argument has been waived. “A party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.” *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003). Consequently, J&J's claim regarding the impropriety of counsel's argument is procedurally barred from appellate review because J&J argues a different basis on appeal than was argued at trial. *State ex rel. Wilson v. Ortho-McNeil-Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 414 S.C. 33, 60, 777 S.E.2d 176, 190 (2015).

Further, in the event this Court finds that this issue has been properly preserved for appellate review, there was no reversible error. “Generally, the missing witness rule is applied when the uncalled witness is an agent, employee, relation, or associate of the party failing to call him, or within some degree of control of said party.” *Davis v. Sparks*, 235 S.C. 326, 333, 111 S.E.2d 545, 549 (1959). As acknowledged by the Supreme Court, “the better practice is that use of the missing witness rule should be limited to counsel's argument, and a jury instruction on the matter should not be given.” *In re Gonzalez*, 409 S.C. 621, 635, 763 S.E. 2d 210, 217 (2014).

Plaintiffs' counsel's statement during closing argument regarding the absence of J&J's expert witnesses was simply a comment on J&J's failed promise to present testimony "from experts who are paid by defendants," (R. at 17752:8-9), and from "doctors to talk through the studies showing that . . . individuals that by far had more talc exposure than anybody would with a baby powder" had no increased risk of mesothelioma. (R. at 17765:24-17766:5). The comment was made during closing arguments, as permitted by *Gonzalez*.

J&J was not prevented from rebutting any unfavorable inference, and they did so during closing statements, insisting that they did not need to "bring any other experts" because Plaintiffs' "expert told my story and proved my defense for Johnson & Johnson." (R. at 19493:1-19494:7). Any error resulting from an alleged improper invocation of the missing witness rule could not have reasonably affected the outcome of trial. *See, e.g., Way*, 410 S.C. at 385, 764 S.E.2d at 706 (quoting *Dansbury v. State*, 193 Md.App. 718, 1 A.3d 507, 522 (2010) ("Where a party raises the missing witness rule during closing argument, its use is just that—an argument.... Furthermore, the opposing side also has an opportunity to refute the argument and counter with reasons why the inference is inappropriate.")). "Generally, appellate courts will not set aside judgments due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result." *Judy v. Judy*, 384 S.C. 634, 646, 682 S.E.2d 836, 842 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing *State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 176, 399 S.E.2d 595, 597 (1991)).

Any potential prejudice caused by Plaintiffs' counsel's statement was cured by the trial court striking the statement and issuing a curative instruction. *State v. Cooper*, 334 S.C. 540, 554, 514 S.E.2d 584, 591 (1999). J&J did not object to the trial court's curative instruction and did not move for a mistrial as a result of Plaintiffs' counsel's alleged improper invocation of the missing witness rule. *See State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003); *McElveen v. Ferre*, 299 S.C. 377, 381, 385 S.E.2d 39, 41 (Ct. App. 1989).

II. There was no spoliation order entered in this case.

The *Hood-McBrayer* spoliation order was entered in another case involving J&J. While there was discussion during the pre-trial hearing of having the *Hood-McBrayer* Order apply to this case, no spoliation order was entered, and no spoliation instruction was given. Additionally, and contrary to J&J's argument, the potential entry of this order did not prevent J&J from presenting a case to rebut Plaintiffs' claims.

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